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National Co-operative Credit Union Limited

MISSION 
STATEMENT 

“To be the Leading Financial Institution  
providing Services that Enhance the Quality of Life of ALL,  

consistent with Co-operative Principles.” 
 
 

Our Co-operative Identity 
A co-operative is an autonomous association of persons 

united voluntarily to meet their common economic, social and 
cultural needs and aspirations through a jointly-owned and 

democratically controlled enterprise. 
 
 
Our Co-operative Principles 

 Voluntary and Open Membership 
 Democratic Member Control 
 Economic Participation 
 Autonomy and Independence 
 Education, Training and Information 
 Co-operation among Co-operatives 
 Concern for the Community 

 
Our Co-operative Values 

 Self-Help 
 Self-Responsibility 
 Democracy 
 Equality 
 Equity 
 Solidarity 

 
Our Values 

 Integrity 
 Professionalism 
 Loyalty  
 Innovation  
 Human Resource Development 
 Good Governance 

S T A N D I N G  O R D E R S  
 
 

1. a) A member shall stand when addressing the Chair. 
b) Speeches are to be clear and relevant to the subject before the meeting. 

 
2. A member shall only address the meeting when called upon by the Chairperson to 

do so, after which he shall immediately take his/her seat. 
 
3. No member shall address the meeting except through the Chairperson. 

 
4. A member shall not speak twice on the same subject except: 

a) The mover of a motion who has the right to reply. 
b) He/she rises to object or to explain (with the permission of the Chair) 

 
5. The mover of a “Procedural Motion” (Adjournment, Lay on the Table, Motion to 

Postpone) shall have no right of reply. 
 
6. No speeches are to be made after the “Question” has been put and carried or 

negated. 
 

7. A member rising on a “Point of Order” is to state the point clearly and concisely.  
(A “Pont of Order” must have relevance to the “Standing Orders”). 

 
8. a) A member shall not “call another member to order” but may draw the attention 

to the chair to a “Breach of Order.” 
b)  In no event can a member call the chair to order. 

 
9. A “Question” shall not be put to the vote if a member desires to speak on it or 

move an amendment to it, except that a “Procedural Motion: The Previous 
Question”, “Proceed to the Next Business” or the Closure: ‘that the Question be 
now put” may be moved at any time. 

 
10. Only one amendment should be made before the meeting at one and the same 

time. 
 

11. When a motion is withdrawn, any amendment to it fails. 
 
12. The Chairperson shall have the right to a “Casting Vote.” 

 
13. If there is equality of voting on an amendment, and if the Chairperson does not 

exercise his casting vote, the amendment is lost. 
 

14. Provision is to be made for protection by the Chairperson from vilification 
(personal abuse). 

 
15. No member shall impute improper motives against another member. 
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AGENDA 

 
 

1.  Credit Union Prayer 

2.  Welcome Remarks 

3.  Ascertainment of Quorum 

4.  Apologies for Absence 

5.  President’s Message 

6.  Resolution to Adopt By-Laws 

7.  Reports: 

(a) Board of Directors 

(b) Treasurer and Auditor 

(c) Supervisory Committee 

(d) Credit Committee 

8.  Elections – Nominations Committee Report 

9.  New Business: 

(a) Appropriation of Surplus 

(b) Appointment of Auditor 

10.  Any Other Business: 

(a) Remarks and Suggestions 

(b) Lucky Bird Prizes & Raffle  

11.  Adjournment 
 

 

 

 
………………………………… 
RHODA CELAIRE (MS.) 
SECRETARY 
For and on Behalf of the Board of Directors 
 

N O T I C EN O T I C E   

  
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT THE FIRST ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF                   

THE NATIONAL CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED WILL BE CONVENED 

ON TUESDAY 31ST MAY 2011, 5:00 P.M AT THE ST. GERARD’S HALL, TURKEY 

LANE, ROSEAU, IN THE COMMONWEALTH OF DOMINICA 

 

IT IS FURTHER NOTIFIED THAT THE FOLLOWING RESOLUTION WILL BE PUT 

TO THE MEMBERSHIP FOR CONSIDERATION: 

  

RESOLUTION 
 
WHEREAS the National Co-operative Credit Union Limited, a newly 

registered Co-operative Society is currently operating under proposed          

By-Laws.  

 

AND WHEREAS Section 51(1) of the Co-operative Societies Act, No. 2 of 

2011; confers upon the Society, such power to make, amend, repeal, 

replace or confirm By-Laws. 

 

AND WHEREAS it is necessary for the membership of the Society to 

adopt By-Laws for the efficient governance and management of the 

Society. 

 

BE IT RESOLVED that the Draft By-Laws of the National Co-operative 

Credit Union Limited as contained in Appendix A and forwarded to the 

members of the Society together with the Notice of this First General 

Meeting, be accepted as circulated and approve accordingly. 
 

May 11, 2011 

 
RHODA CELAIRE (MS.) 
SECRETARY 
For and on Behalf of the Board of Directors 

172.11 nccu annual report.indd   4 5/24/11   11:35 AM



5

National Co-operative Credit Union Limited

  

 
AGENDA 

 
 

1.  Credit Union Prayer 

2.  Welcome Remarks 

3.  Ascertainment of Quorum 

4.  Apologies for Absence 

5.  President’s Message 

6.  Resolution to Adopt By-Laws 

7.  Reports: 

(a) Board of Directors 

(b) Treasurer and Auditor 

(c) Supervisory Committee 

(d) Credit Committee 

8.  Elections – Nominations Committee Report 

9.  New Business: 

(a) Appropriation of Surplus 

(b) Appointment of Auditor 

10.  Any Other Business: 

(a) Remarks and Suggestions 

(b) Lucky Bird Prizes & Raffle  

11.  Adjournment 
 

 

 

 
………………………………… 
RHODA CELAIRE (MS.) 
SECRETARY 
For and on Behalf of the Board of Directors 
 

N O T I C EN O T I C E   

  
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT THE FIRST ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF                   

THE NATIONAL CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED WILL BE CONVENED 

ON TUESDAY 31ST MAY 2011, 5:00 P.M AT THE ST. GERARD’S HALL, TURKEY 

LANE, ROSEAU, IN THE COMMONWEALTH OF DOMINICA 

 

IT IS FURTHER NOTIFIED THAT THE FOLLOWING RESOLUTION WILL BE PUT 

TO THE MEMBERSHIP FOR CONSIDERATION: 

  

RESOLUTION 
 
WHEREAS the National Co-operative Credit Union Limited, a newly 

registered Co-operative Society is currently operating under proposed          

By-Laws.  

 

AND WHEREAS Section 51(1) of the Co-operative Societies Act, No. 2 of 

2011; confers upon the Society, such power to make, amend, repeal, 

replace or confirm By-Laws. 

 

AND WHEREAS it is necessary for the membership of the Society to 

adopt By-Laws for the efficient governance and management of the 

Society. 

 

BE IT RESOLVED that the Draft By-Laws of the National Co-operative 

Credit Union Limited as contained in Appendix A and forwarded to the 

members of the Society together with the Notice of this First General 

Meeting, be accepted as circulated and approve accordingly. 
 

May 11, 2011 

 
RHODA CELAIRE (MS.) 
SECRETARY 
For and on Behalf of the Board of Directors 

172.11 nccu annual report.indd   5 5/24/11   11:35 AM



6

National Co-operative Credit Union Limited

OVERVIEW
The National Co-operative Credit Union 
Limited was registered under Section 13 
of the Co-operative Societies Act No. 15 
of 1996 by the Commissioner of Co-
operatives as No. 113/10.

The Society commenced operations on 
November 1, 2010 as a result of the 
amalgamation of the Roseau, St. Paul, 
La Salette, St. David’s and Vieille Case 
Credit Unions.

Amalgamation Day, November 1, 2010, 
was executed flawlessly with a radio 
address to all members by the President 
– Mr. Dexter Ducreay, followed by live 
radio broadcast from all the branches for 
thirty minutes.

The formal Inauguration Ceremony 
was held on November 25, 2010 on 
Independence Street in front of the 
Society’s Head Office and Roseau 
Branch.  Among the dignitaries 
addressing the gathering were the 
Honourable Minister for Social Services, 

National Co-operative Credit Union Limited

Board of Directors Report
For the period November 1, 2010 to December 31, 2010

Community Development and Gender 
Affairs, Mrs. Gloria Shillingford and 
Honourable Minister for Health and  
Urban Renewal, Mr. Julius Timothy, 
as well as Mr. Ralph Wharton, General 
Manager of the Caribbean Confederation 
of Credit Unions (CCCU) and the 
President of the St. Vincent Credit 
Union League, Mr. Junior Bacchus. 
Greetings received from Mr. Melvin 
Edwards, Immediate Past Chairman of 
the World Council of Credit Unions 
were read at the ceremony.  
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FINANCIAL
PERFORMANCE
The Society’s Total Assets 
stood at $340,514,482 
as at December 31, 
2010  compared to 
$336,529,195 at 
November 1, 2010 an 
increase of $3,986,287 
(1.18%).  Originated 
loans of $228,830,113 
after provisioning, 
represented 67% of Total 
Assets.
                        
The bar graph at Fig. 
1 compares the growth 
in liquid and loan 
investments to total 
assets for the period 
November to December 
2010.

The changes in the 
Society’s interest bearing 
liabilities and other 
liabilities from the 
date of amalgamation, 
November 1, 2010, are 
compared to the balances 
as at December 31, 2010 
and are depicted in Table 
2 and Fig 2.

Table 2 -    LIABILITIES MIX  - Dec. 2010 and Nov. 2010
Category Dec. 31, 2010 Nov. 1, 2010

 $ % $ %
Saving/Ordinary 
Deposits

175,218,526 57.57 171,716,338 57.06 

Fixed Deposits 99,549,370 32.71 98,747,291 32.81 
Member Retirement 
Account

22,557,827 7.41 20,937,689 6.96 

Other Liabilities 7,014,074 2.30 9,556,719 3.18 
TOTAL 304,339,797  300,958,037

 

$227,174,424

$228,830,113

$64,910,739

$63,247,708

$336,529,195

$340,515,482

0

50,000,000 

100,000,000 

150,000,000 

200,000,000 

250,000,000 

300,000,000 

350,000,000 

$

Loans (Net) Liquid Investments Total Assets

Nov.
2010

Dec.
2010

Fig. 1 – LIQUID & LOAN INVESTMENTS TO TOTAL 
ASSETS FOR  Nov. 1– Dec. 31, 2010

Nov. 1, 2010 Dec. 31, 2010

$ $

Loans (Net) 227,174,424 228,830,113

Liquid Investments  64,910,739  63,247,708

Total Assets 336,529,195 340,515,482

Table 1 - LOANS & LIQUID INVESTMENTS 
TO TOTAL ASSETS
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Fig 2  -    LIABILITIES MIX
- Dec. 31, 2010 and Nov. 1, 2010
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During the period in review, the Society 
earned Gross Revenues of $4,668,272.  
The Interest Income generated from 
loans was $3,609,231.  The income from 
Short Term Investments on the other 
hand was $833,372.

The Society’s Financial Costs represented 
its largest item of expenditure, totaling 
$1,750,070.  The Financial Costs 
accounted for 43.60% of the Total 
Expenses of $4,013,830.  These costs 
are represented by interest payment on 
borrowed funds, Term Deposits, Member 
Retirement Accounts, Savings and 
Ordinary Deposits.  

Despite the negative impact of the 
impairment provision, as a result of the 
uncertainty about the investments with 
Colonial Life and British 
American Life 
Insurance Companies, your 
Society realized a surplus 
before appropriation of 
$654,442 over the period 
November 1, to December 
31, 2010.

Table 3 -  SUMMARY OF REVENUE & EXPENSES  
REVENUE & EXPENSES Dec. 31, 2010

$
Interest from Loans 3,609,231
Income from Investments 924,460
Other Income 134,581
Expenses 4,013,830
Surplus 654,442

HUMAN RESOURCES
The total staff complement of the 
National Co-operative Credit Union Ltd 
is one hundred and nine (109).

In order to standardize policies and 
procedures, members of staff of the 
Roseau branch were re-deployed to 
provide support and training to the other 
branches.

Mr. Aylmer Irish and Mr. Mc Dowill 
Paul were appointed to act in the offices 
of Chief Executive Officer and Branch 
Manager Roseau respectively. The former 
Managers of the Vieille Case, St. Paul 
and  La Salette Credit Unions assumed 
the position of Branch Managers and an 
Administrative Officer is responsible for 
the operations at the St. David’s Branch.
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National Co-operative Credit Union Limited

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The members serving on the Board of Directors and their attendance record at meetings convened for 
the period under review were as follows:

Table 4 -  MEETINGS ATTENDANCE RECORD Nov. 2010 – Dec. 2010
DIRECTORS MONTHLY B.O.D.

MEETINGS
SPECIAL B.O.D.

MEETINGS
JOINT COMMITTEE

MEETINGS

 Total Attended Excused Total Attended Excused Total Attended Excused

Dexter Ducreay    - President 3 3 0 1 1 0 1 1 0

Alganan Degallarie  - V. President 3 3 0 1 1 0 1 1 0

Rhoda Celaire      - Secretary 3 2 1 1 0 1 1 1 0

Thomas Dorsett   - Treasurer 3 3 0 1 1 0 1 1 0

Bernice Matthew 3 2 1 1 1 0 1 1 0

Janice Jean-Jacques Thomas 3 3 0 1 1 0 1 0 1

Celia Delauney 3 3 0 1 1 0 1 1 0

Michael Augustine 3 3 0 1 1 0 1 1 0

Fevrier Valmond 3 3 0 1 1 0 1 1 0

Bernard Francis 3 3 0 1 1 0 1 1 0

Vernice Bellony 3 3 0 1 1 0 1 0 1

Cletus Joseph 3 3 0 1 0 1 1 0 1

Carlisle Jno Baptiste 3 2 1 1 1 0 1 1 0

Carol Rabess     - Observer 3 3 0 1 1 0 1 1 0
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FUTURE OUTLOOK
Having successfully amalgamated, the 
Society is poised to take advantage of 
the opportunities to assist other Credit 
Unions and non-credit union co-
operatives.

The strategic foci for the next three (3) 
years include:
 
•	 streamline processes to increase 

efficiency;
•	 improve inter-branch 

communication and the physical 
environment at all branches;

•	 increase promotion of services;
•	 provide continuous and relevant 

training of members, staff and 
volunteers and

•	 offer additional incentives to 
members.

The survival of the Society in this 
uncertain financial climate brought about 
by the global instability in the financial 
market is hinged on the provision of 
competitive priced, high demand services 
to our members.

The amalgamation allowed for the 
pooling of both financial and Human 
Resources for the greater good of all.

The overall cost of doing business is 
expected to decrease because of large 
scale purchase of consumables.  A wider 
variety of services and products are 
now available at any of the branches.  
Members now enjoy the convenience 
of performing transactions at any or all 
branches.

Your Board is therefore pleased to 
inform you that as the second largest 
financial institution in Dominica, there 
are encouraging prospects for a stronger 
institution in 2011.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT
The Board of Directors wishes to 
thank the Amalgamation Committee, 
Amalgamation Coordinator, Co-
operative Division, Dominica Co-
operative Societies League Ltd, Financial 
Services Unit, Management and Staff 
for the support and encouragement 
to ensure the realisation of the 
amalgamation and the formation of this 
new entity.

We must express our sincerest thanks 
for the overwhelming contribution of 
the Supervisory and Credit Committees. 
This has been a true reflection of 
volunteerism at work.
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Although this Board has only been at the 
helm for a period of two (2) months, it 
has been a wonderful experience serving 
you the members.  It is our desire to 
continue to work hard at ensuring years 
of stability.  

The NCCU is the second largest 
financial institution in Dominica and 
we aspire to be, the premier financial 
institution. 

We implore all members to redouble 
efforts in order to secure sustainability 
and continued success.

Let us together celebrate our achievements.

____________________
Dexter Ducreay (Mr.)
President
For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
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INTRODUCTION 
The National Co-operative Credit Union 
Limited is a highly liquid and well- 
managed financial institution, providing 
services and products to its members at 
all branches.

The Society’s performance over two (2) 
months of operation is encouraging and 
is a reflection of members’ confidence in 
the competent management of the new 
entity.

The table below is indicative of the 
Society’s growth over the period 
November 2010 to December 2010.

National Co-operative Credit Union Limited

Treasurer’s Report
For the period November 1, 2010 to December 31, 2010

LOANS PORTFOLIO
Revenue generated from the loans 
portfolio and other investments for the 
period under review was $4,533,691 
and the net interest income was 
$2,783,620.   At the close of business on 
December 31, 2010, the loans portfolio 
was $240,233,645 (Gross) as compared 
to $238,298,723 at the beginning 
of November 2010, an increase of 
$1,934,922 (0.81%).

OPERATING EFFICIENCY
The two (2) months of operation was 
successful with the Society recording 
surplus before appropriations of 

Table 1 – PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

INDICATORS
 

Dec. 31, 2010
$

Nov. 1, 2010
$

Increase/(Decrease)

$ %

Assets 340,515,482 336,529,195 3,986,287  0.0118 

Shares 2,628,350 2,607,250 21,100  0.0081

Member Savings 175,218,526 171,716,338 3,502,188 0.0204 

Loans (Net) 228,830,113 227,174,424 1,655,689 0.0073
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$654,442.  Surplus after appropriations 
required by law was $517,007.  Total 
Income from interest was $4,533,691, 
while interest expenses was $1,750,071.
 
ASSET/LIABILITY MANAGEMENT
The Asset/Liability Management 
Committee met to review the Society’s 
investments and assessed the risk 
associated with those investments in light 
of the limited investment instruments 
available in Dominica.

The short term investments are for the 
most part invested in term deposits.

OUTLOOK
The Society is exploring alternative 
investments with limited risks which 
would generate income to augment the 
loan interest income.

The guiding principle in making all 
investments will be safety and soundness 
and the preservation of members’ savings 
and capital.      

CONCLUSION
Without a doubt, the National Co-
operative Credit Union Ltd has impacted 
positively on its members and continues 
to play an important role in the social 

and economic success of Dominica.  The 
philosophy of cooperation and mutual 
self help has served the Society well and 
has been responsible for the success of 
the amalgamation.

I am grateful for the opportunity to be of 
service to you the members and wish to 
record my appreciation for the assistance 
of the Committees and Staff during my 
tenure.

……………………...
Thomas Dorsett
Treasurer
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MOREAU & CO. 
---------------------------CHARTERED CERTIFIED ACCOUNTANTS------------------------- 

P.O.Box 326.Cross Lane. Roseau. Commonwealth of Dominica 
Tel. (767) 448-2252. Fax. (767) 448-0489. Email: moreauco@cwdom.dm 

 
 
May 16, 2011 
 
 

AUDITORS' REPORT TO THE MEMBERS 
 
 
To the Members 
National Co-operative Credit Union Limited 
ROSEAU 
 
We have audited the financial statements of National Co-operative Credit Union Limited set out on 
pages 3 to 32 for the period ended December 31, 2010. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. This responsibility includes: 
designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that 
are reasonable in the circumstances. 
 
Auditors’ Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We  
conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require 
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as 
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
AUDITORS' REPORT TO THE MEMBERS (continued) 
 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our audit opinion. 
 
As disclosed in note 7 (a) there is uncertainty with regard to the realization on maturity of fixed 
deposit investments with certain regional insurance companies one of which is under judicial 
management.  Because of this uncertainty, we are unable to satisfy ourselves as to the adequacy of 
the provision made against those fixed deposit investments. 
 
Opinion 
 
In our opinion, except as disclosed above, these financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of the Society as at December 31, 2010 and its financial performance 
and its cash flows for the period then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards and comply with the Co-operative Societies Act No. 15 of 1996 and the Co-operative 
Societies Regulations S.R.O 26 of 2001 of the laws of the Commonwealth of Dominica. 
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AUDITORS' REPORT TO THE MEMBERS (continued) 
 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our audit opinion. 
 
As disclosed in note 7 (a) there is uncertainty with regard to the realization on maturity of fixed 
deposit investments with certain regional insurance companies one of which is under judicial 
management.  Because of this uncertainty, we are unable to satisfy ourselves as to the adequacy of 
the provision made against those fixed deposit investments. 
 
Opinion 
 
In our opinion, except as disclosed above, these financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of the Society as at December 31, 2010 and its financial performance 
and its cash flows for the period then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards and comply with the Co-operative Societies Act No. 15 of 1996 and the Co-operative 
Societies Regulations S.R.O 26 of 2001 of the laws of the Commonwealth of Dominica. 
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NATIONAL CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED 
              STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
                       AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2010

December November
Notes 31, 2010 01, 2010

EC$ EC$
ASSETS
   Cash and bank balances 4 7,853,719 8,238,360
   Statutory reserve deposit 5 16,296,060 16,188,920
   Shares at Dominica Co-operative Societies League 6 131,285 131,285
   Investment securities: held to maturity 7a 63,247,708 64,910,739

    available-for-sale 7b 5,096,324 1,835,751
   Originated loans 8 228,830,113 227,174,424
   Other assets 9 6,505,309 5,428,906
   Property, Plant and Equipment 10 12,546,474 12,610,905
   Leasehold Improvement 8,490 9,905
TOTAL ASSETS 340,515,482 336,529,195

LIABILITIES
   Members' savings/ordinary deposits 11 175,218,526 171,716,338
   Term deposits 12 99,549,370 98,747,291
   Accounts payable and provisions 13 5,887,475 8,437,777
   Deferred Revenue 36,967 36,967
   Member Retirement Account 14 22,557,827 20,937,689
   European Union Grant 15 109,334 101,677
   Long Term Loans 19 980,298 980,298
TOTAL LIABILITIES 304,339,797 300,958,037

MEMBERS' EQUITY
   Share capital 25 2,628,350 2,607,250
   Statutory reserve (guarantee fund) 16 13,492,396 13,367,197
   Education fund 17 437,990 440,910
   Edward Elwin Memorial Fund 20 36,348 41,271
   Loan Protection fund 18 913,103 1,026,103
   Capital Reserve 1,684,483 2,490,575
   Capital Contribution 21 4,807,976 3,969,406
   Fair Value Reserve 7b 45,678 28,189
   Development Fund 28 15,343 20,920
   Retained Surplus 12,114,018 11,579,337
TOTAL MEMBERS' EQUITY 36,175,685 35,571,158

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND MEMBERS' EQUITY 340,515,482 336,529,195

e accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
                                                                SIGN ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

                 -----------------------------  ------------------------
           PRESIDENT         TREASURER
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NATIONAL CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED 
              STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
                       AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2010

December November
Notes 31, 2010 01, 2010

EC$ EC$
ASSETS
   Cash and bank balances 4 7,853,719 8,238,360
   Statutory reserve deposit 5 16,296,060 16,188,920
   Shares at Dominica Co-operative Societies League 6 131,285 131,285
   Investment securities: held to maturity 7a 63,247,708 64,910,739

    available-for-sale 7b 5,096,324 1,835,751
   Originated loans 8 228,830,113 227,174,424
   Other assets 9 6,505,309 5,428,906
   Property, Plant and Equipment 10 12,546,474 12,610,905
   Leasehold Improvement 8,490 9,905
TOTAL ASSETS 340,515,482 336,529,195

LIABILITIES
   Members' savings/ordinary deposits 11 175,218,526 171,716,338
   Term deposits 12 99,549,370 98,747,291
   Accounts payable and provisions 13 5,887,475 8,437,777
   Deferred Revenue 36,967 36,967
   Member Retirement Account 14 22,557,827 20,937,689
   European Union Grant 15 109,334 101,677
   Long Term Loans 19 980,298 980,298
TOTAL LIABILITIES 304,339,797 300,958,037

MEMBERS' EQUITY
   Share capital 25 2,628,350 2,607,250
   Statutory reserve (guarantee fund) 16 13,492,396 13,367,197
   Education fund 17 437,990 440,910
   Edward Elwin Memorial Fund 20 36,348 41,271
   Loan Protection fund 18 913,103 1,026,103
   Capital Reserve 1,684,483 2,490,575
   Capital Contribution 21 4,807,976 3,969,406
   Fair Value Reserve 7b 45,678 28,189
   Development Fund 28 15,343 20,920
   Retained Surplus 12,114,018 11,579,337
TOTAL MEMBERS' EQUITY 36,175,685 35,571,158

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND MEMBERS' EQUITY 340,515,482 336,529,195

e accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
                                                                SIGN ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

                 -----------------------------  ------------------------
           PRESIDENT         TREASURER
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NATIONAL CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW

      FOR THE TWO MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010
December

Notes 31, 2010
EC$

Cash flows from operating activities
   Surplus before appropriation 654,442
Adjustment for:
   Depreciation 169,565
   Impairment Loss on Investments 202,484
   Loan Protection Fund 10,000
   Amortization 1,415

Cash flow before changes in operating assets and liabilities 1,037,906

Increase in statutory reserve deposit 5 (107,140)
(Increase) / Decrease in originated loans 8 (1,655,689)
(Increase) / Decrease in other assets 9 (1,076,403)
Increase in members' savings/demand deposits 11 3,502,188
Increase in term deposits 12 802,079
Increase in Members' retirement account 14 1,620,138
Increase / (Decrease) in accounts payable and provisions 13 (2,550,302)
Increase (Decrease) in European Union Grant 15 7,657

Net cash from operating activities 1,580,434

Cash flow from investing activities
   Purchase of fixed assets 10 (105,133)
   Purchase of investment securities: held to maturity 7a 1,460,547
   Purchase of investment securities: available for sale 7b (3,260,573)
Net cash from investing activities (1,905,159)

Cash flows from financing activities
   Share capital 27 21,100
   Dividend paid  ----
   Disbursed from Loan Protection Fund 18 (123,000)
   Disbursed from Development Fund 28 (10,006)
   Entrance fee 16 1,583
   Write back interest/adjustment to surplus 37,841
   Expended from Edward Elwin Fund 20 (4,923)
   Fair value reserve 17,489
Net cash from financing activities (59,916)

Net cash flows (384,641)
Cash at amalgamation date 8,238,360
Cash at end of period 7,853,719

e accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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NATIONAL CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW

      FOR THE TWO MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010
December

Notes 31, 2010
EC$

Cash flows from operating activities
   Surplus before appropriation 654,442
Adjustment for:
   Depreciation 169,565
   Impairment Loss on Investments 202,484
   Loan Protection Fund 10,000
   Amortization 1,415

Cash flow before changes in operating assets and liabilities 1,037,906

Increase in statutory reserve deposit 5 (107,140)
(Increase) / Decrease in originated loans 8 (1,655,689)
(Increase) / Decrease in other assets 9 (1,076,403)
Increase in members' savings/demand deposits 11 3,502,188
Increase in term deposits 12 802,079
Increase in Members' retirement account 14 1,620,138
Increase / (Decrease) in accounts payable and provisions 13 (2,550,302)
Increase (Decrease) in European Union Grant 15 7,657

Net cash from operating activities 1,580,434

Cash flow from investing activities
   Purchase of fixed assets 10 (105,133)
   Purchase of investment securities: held to maturity 7a 1,460,547
   Purchase of investment securities: available for sale 7b (3,260,573)
Net cash from investing activities (1,905,159)

Cash flows from financing activities
   Share capital 27 21,100
   Dividend paid  ----
   Disbursed from Loan Protection Fund 18 (123,000)
   Disbursed from Development Fund 28 (10,006)
   Entrance fee 16 1,583
   Write back interest/adjustment to surplus 37,841
   Expended from Edward Elwin Fund 20 (4,923)
   Fair value reserve 17,489
Net cash from financing activities (59,916)

Net cash flows (384,641)
Cash at amalgamation date 8,238,360
Cash at end of period 7,853,719

e accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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NATIONAL CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE TWO MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010 
 
1. GENERAL INFORMATION 
 

The National Co-operative Credit Union Limited (NCCU) was registered 
as #113/10 on October 29, 2010 in accordance with section 13 of the Co-
operative Societies Act #15 of 1996 of the Laws of Dominica and 
commenced operations on November 1, 2010. 
 
The National Co-operative Credit Union Limited (NCCU) is an 
amalgamation of The Roseau, La Salette, St. David, St. Paul and Vielle 
Case Co-operative Credit Unions. 
 
The Society’s Head Office is located at 31-37 Independence Street, 
Roseau.  Other branches are held at: Pointe Michel, Mahaut and Riviere 
Cyrique and Vieille Case with Sub-Branches at Penville, Paix Bouche and 
Thibaud in the Commonwealth of Dominica. 
 
The primary reason for the Amalgamation was to give greater meaning to 
co-operation among co-operatives.  Other reasons included the pooling of 
Financial and Human Resources, increased and improved services and 
products available to members as well as the reduction in the cost of 
operations through large scale purchases of consumables. 
 
The Amalgamation provides members with the ability to access services at 
various locations throughout Dominica. 
 
The National Co-operative Credit Union acquired, through the 
Amalgamation, 100% of the equity interest of the amalgamated Credit 
Unions. 
 
As at November 1, 2010 the total value of the Net Assets of the La Salette, 
St. David’s, Vieille Case and St. Paul Branches was $3,872,912.  
Members shares totaled 12,846 at par value of $50 per share; amounting to 
$642,300.  The calculated gain as a result of the four (4) Credit Unions 
amalgamating with the Roseau Credit Union was $3,230,612. 
 
At acquisition date consideration was effectively transferred at par value 
since no share valuation techniques were employed to value equity. 
 
During the measurement period, appropriate valuation techniques will be 
employed to obtain an equitable share exchange ratio and a fair value of 
the member equity interest transferred, in compliance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards 3 – Business Combinations. 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

NATIONAL CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE TWO MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010 
 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these 
financial statements are set out below.  These policies have been 
consistently applied as at the year presented unless otherwise stated. 

 
(a) Basis of Preparation 

 
These financial statements are prepared in accordance with the 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). It should be noted 
that the initial accounting for the amalgamation (business combination) 
was not completed as at the end of the financial period. As a result the 
financial statements have reported provisional amounts for the items for 
which the accounting is incomplete. The maximum measurement period 
of twelve months will be used to obtain information necessary to 
identify and measure the following as of the amalgamation date in 
accordance with the requirements of IFRS 3, Business Combinations: 

 
� The identifiable assets acquired, liabilities assumed out of the 

amalgamation; 
� The consideration transferred as represented by member (equity) 

interest in the NCCU; 
� The resulting goodwill or gain realized (for accounting purposes) 

from the amalgamation  
The information required was not available at the time of reporting 
because valuations (fair values) had not been commissioned and obtained 
for the identifiable assets, particularly property plant and equipment, at the 
date of amalgamation. Moreover, the fair value of the member interest 
transferred (consideration) as part of the amalgamation is yet to be 
determined via appropriate share valuation models.  
 
These financial statements are prepared under the historical cost 
convention as modified by the revaluation of certain available-for-sale 
financial assets.  The preparation of the financial statements in conformity 
with IFRS requires the use of estimates and assumption that affect the 
reported amounts of the assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent 
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported 
amount of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.  Although 
these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of current 
events and actions, actual results ultimately may differ from those 
estimates. 
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NATIONAL CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE TWO MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010 
 
1. GENERAL INFORMATION 
 

The National Co-operative Credit Union Limited (NCCU) was registered 
as #113/10 on October 29, 2010 in accordance with section 13 of the Co-
operative Societies Act #15 of 1996 of the Laws of Dominica and 
commenced operations on November 1, 2010. 
 
The National Co-operative Credit Union Limited (NCCU) is an 
amalgamation of The Roseau, La Salette, St. David, St. Paul and Vielle 
Case Co-operative Credit Unions. 
 
The Society’s Head Office is located at 31-37 Independence Street, 
Roseau.  Other branches are held at: Pointe Michel, Mahaut and Riviere 
Cyrique and Vieille Case with Sub-Branches at Penville, Paix Bouche and 
Thibaud in the Commonwealth of Dominica. 
 
The primary reason for the Amalgamation was to give greater meaning to 
co-operation among co-operatives.  Other reasons included the pooling of 
Financial and Human Resources, increased and improved services and 
products available to members as well as the reduction in the cost of 
operations through large scale purchases of consumables. 
 
The Amalgamation provides members with the ability to access services at 
various locations throughout Dominica. 
 
The National Co-operative Credit Union acquired, through the 
Amalgamation, 100% of the equity interest of the amalgamated Credit 
Unions. 
 
As at November 1, 2010 the total value of the Net Assets of the La Salette, 
St. David’s, Vieille Case and St. Paul Branches was $3,872,912.  
Members shares totaled 12,846 at par value of $50 per share; amounting to 
$642,300.  The calculated gain as a result of the four (4) Credit Unions 
amalgamating with the Roseau Credit Union was $3,230,612. 
 
At acquisition date consideration was effectively transferred at par value 
since no share valuation techniques were employed to value equity. 
 
During the measurement period, appropriate valuation techniques will be 
employed to obtain an equitable share exchange ratio and a fair value of 
the member equity interest transferred, in compliance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards 3 – Business Combinations. 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

NATIONAL CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE TWO MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010 
 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these 
financial statements are set out below.  These policies have been 
consistently applied as at the year presented unless otherwise stated. 

 
(a) Basis of Preparation 

 
These financial statements are prepared in accordance with the 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). It should be noted 
that the initial accounting for the amalgamation (business combination) 
was not completed as at the end of the financial period. As a result the 
financial statements have reported provisional amounts for the items for 
which the accounting is incomplete. The maximum measurement period 
of twelve months will be used to obtain information necessary to 
identify and measure the following as of the amalgamation date in 
accordance with the requirements of IFRS 3, Business Combinations: 

 
� The identifiable assets acquired, liabilities assumed out of the 

amalgamation; 
� The consideration transferred as represented by member (equity) 

interest in the NCCU; 
� The resulting goodwill or gain realized (for accounting purposes) 

from the amalgamation  
The information required was not available at the time of reporting 
because valuations (fair values) had not been commissioned and obtained 
for the identifiable assets, particularly property plant and equipment, at the 
date of amalgamation. Moreover, the fair value of the member interest 
transferred (consideration) as part of the amalgamation is yet to be 
determined via appropriate share valuation models.  
 
These financial statements are prepared under the historical cost 
convention as modified by the revaluation of certain available-for-sale 
financial assets.  The preparation of the financial statements in conformity 
with IFRS requires the use of estimates and assumption that affect the 
reported amounts of the assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent 
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported 
amount of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.  Although 
these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of current 
events and actions, actual results ultimately may differ from those 
estimates. 
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NATIONAL CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE TWO MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010 
 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d 
 

(b) Summary of Standards, Interpretations and Amendments relevant 
to this financial reporting period 

 
IFRS 3 (Revised) Business Combinations (effective July 1, 2009) 

 
The objective of this IFRS is to improve the relevance, reliability and 
comparability of the information that a reporting entity provides in its 
financial statements about a business combination and its effects. A business 
combination is a transaction or other event in which an acquirer obtains 
control of one or more businesses. 

 
Transactions sometimes referred to as “true mergers” or “mergers of equals” 
are also business combinations. To accomplish its objectives this standard 
establishes the principles and requirements for how an acquirer: recognize 
and measure in its financial statements the identifiable assets acquired and 
the liabilities assumed in the acquiree; recognize and measure goodwill 
acquired in the business combination or a gain from a bargain purchase; and 
determine what information to disclose to enable users of the financial 
statements to evaluate the nature and financial effects of the business 
combination. A business combination must be accounted for by applying the 
acquisition method. One of the parties to a business combination can always 
be identified as the acquirer, being the entity that obtains control of the other 
business or businesses (the acquirees). Each identifiable asset and liability is 
measured at its acquisition-date fair value. The acquirer, having recognized 
the identifiable assets and the liabilities, must identify any difference 
between: the aggregate of the consideration transferred and; the net 
identifiable assets acquired as measured at fair value. The difference will 
generally be recognized as goodwill in the statement of financial position, or 
recognized as a gain on business combination in the statement of 
comprehensive income. The consideration transferred in a business 
combination is measured at fair value, at business combination date; this 
may require the use of one or more equity valuation techniques that are 
appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available. 

 
Any goodwill arising from the initial combination is tested for impairment at 
least once a year and whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate 
the need for impairment. Goodwill is written down by any amount of 
impairment. 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

NATIONAL CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE TWO MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010 
 
 

 
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d) 

 
 

(b) Summary of Standards, Interpretations and Amendments relevant to 
this financial reporting period 

 
If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the 
end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs, the 
acquirer shall report in its financial statements provisional amounts for 
the items for which the accounting is incomplete. During what is termed 
the measurement period, the acquirer shall retrospectively adjust the 
provisional amounts recognized at the acquisition date to reflect new 
information obtained about the facts and circumstances that existed as of 
the acquisition date and, if known, would have affected the measurement 
of the amounts recognized as of that date. The measurement period shall 
not exceed one year from the date of the business combination 
(acquisition date). Entities such as Credit Unions and other Co-
operatives are classified as mutual entities for the purposes of this 
Standard.  

 
Mutual entities are required to comply with all aspects of IFRS for all 
business combinations, but are required to recognize the acquirer’s net 
assets as a direct addition to capital or equity in its statement of financial 
position. The formation of new entities created to issue equity interests 
is irrelevant for the purposes of the standard as to treat those new entities 
as the acquirer would put the form of the transaction over its substance. 
Transactions involving the creation of a new entity still require one of 
the combining entities to be identified as the acquirer. 

 
IAS 1 (Revised) Presentation of Financial Statements (effective January 1, 2009)  

 
This standard has been revised to enhance the usefulness of information presented 
in the financial statements. The main change involves the removal of full details 
of non-owner changes in equity from the statement of changes in equity, resulting 
in only full disclosure of changes in equity arising from transaction with owners. 
The full details of transaction with non-owners are included in a new statement 
called the Statement of Comprehensive Income. This standard introduces some 
new terminology to identify elements of a complete set of financial statements: 
statement of financial position; statement of comprehensive income; a statement 
of changes in equity; statement of cash flows; notes comprising a summary of 
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information; and a statement 
of financial position as at the beginning of the earliest comparative period when 
an entity applies an accounting policy retrospectively or makes a retrospective 
restatement of items in its financial statements, or when it reclassifies items in its 
financial statements. 
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NATIONAL CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE TWO MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010 
 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d 
 

(b) Summary of Standards, Interpretations and Amendments relevant 
to this financial reporting period 

 
IFRS 3 (Revised) Business Combinations (effective July 1, 2009) 

 
The objective of this IFRS is to improve the relevance, reliability and 
comparability of the information that a reporting entity provides in its 
financial statements about a business combination and its effects. A business 
combination is a transaction or other event in which an acquirer obtains 
control of one or more businesses. 

 
Transactions sometimes referred to as “true mergers” or “mergers of equals” 
are also business combinations. To accomplish its objectives this standard 
establishes the principles and requirements for how an acquirer: recognize 
and measure in its financial statements the identifiable assets acquired and 
the liabilities assumed in the acquiree; recognize and measure goodwill 
acquired in the business combination or a gain from a bargain purchase; and 
determine what information to disclose to enable users of the financial 
statements to evaluate the nature and financial effects of the business 
combination. A business combination must be accounted for by applying the 
acquisition method. One of the parties to a business combination can always 
be identified as the acquirer, being the entity that obtains control of the other 
business or businesses (the acquirees). Each identifiable asset and liability is 
measured at its acquisition-date fair value. The acquirer, having recognized 
the identifiable assets and the liabilities, must identify any difference 
between: the aggregate of the consideration transferred and; the net 
identifiable assets acquired as measured at fair value. The difference will 
generally be recognized as goodwill in the statement of financial position, or 
recognized as a gain on business combination in the statement of 
comprehensive income. The consideration transferred in a business 
combination is measured at fair value, at business combination date; this 
may require the use of one or more equity valuation techniques that are 
appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available. 

 
Any goodwill arising from the initial combination is tested for impairment at 
least once a year and whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate 
the need for impairment. Goodwill is written down by any amount of 
impairment. 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

NATIONAL CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE TWO MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010 
 
 

 
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d) 

 
 

(b) Summary of Standards, Interpretations and Amendments relevant to 
this financial reporting period 

 
If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the 
end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs, the 
acquirer shall report in its financial statements provisional amounts for 
the items for which the accounting is incomplete. During what is termed 
the measurement period, the acquirer shall retrospectively adjust the 
provisional amounts recognized at the acquisition date to reflect new 
information obtained about the facts and circumstances that existed as of 
the acquisition date and, if known, would have affected the measurement 
of the amounts recognized as of that date. The measurement period shall 
not exceed one year from the date of the business combination 
(acquisition date). Entities such as Credit Unions and other Co-
operatives are classified as mutual entities for the purposes of this 
Standard.  

 
Mutual entities are required to comply with all aspects of IFRS for all 
business combinations, but are required to recognize the acquirer’s net 
assets as a direct addition to capital or equity in its statement of financial 
position. The formation of new entities created to issue equity interests 
is irrelevant for the purposes of the standard as to treat those new entities 
as the acquirer would put the form of the transaction over its substance. 
Transactions involving the creation of a new entity still require one of 
the combining entities to be identified as the acquirer. 

 
IAS 1 (Revised) Presentation of Financial Statements (effective January 1, 2009)  

 
This standard has been revised to enhance the usefulness of information presented 
in the financial statements. The main change involves the removal of full details 
of non-owner changes in equity from the statement of changes in equity, resulting 
in only full disclosure of changes in equity arising from transaction with owners. 
The full details of transaction with non-owners are included in a new statement 
called the Statement of Comprehensive Income. This standard introduces some 
new terminology to identify elements of a complete set of financial statements: 
statement of financial position; statement of comprehensive income; a statement 
of changes in equity; statement of cash flows; notes comprising a summary of 
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information; and a statement 
of financial position as at the beginning of the earliest comparative period when 
an entity applies an accounting policy retrospectively or makes a retrospective 
restatement of items in its financial statements, or when it reclassifies items in its 
financial statements. 
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NATIONAL CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE TWO MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010 
 
 
 
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d) 
 
 
           (c) Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 

For the purpose of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents 
comprise balances with less that three months maturity from the date of 
acquisition.  

 
(d)        Financial Assets 

 
A financial asset is any asset that is cash; an equity instrument of another 
entity; a contractual right to receive cash or another financial asset from 
another entity, or to exchange financial asset or financial liabilities with 
another entity under conditions that are potentially favorable to the entity; 
or a contract that will or may be settled in the entity’s own equity 
instruments. 

 
The Credit Union classifies its financial assets in the following categories: 
Originated loans; Held-to-Maturity Investments; and Available-for-Sale 
Investments.  Management determines the classification of its investments 
at initial recognition and re-evaluates the designation at every reporting 
date. 
 
Originated loans and provision for loan impairment 
Loans originated by the Credit Union represent money provided directly to 
the borrower (Member and Credit Union staff) as drawn down debt 
securities purchased at original issuance, where funds were transferred 
directly by the issuer, and loans originated by the Credit Union are carried 
at amortised cost. 
 
The amortized cost of a financial asset (or financial liability) is the amount 
at which the financial asset (or financial liability) is measured at initial 
recognition minus principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative 
amortization using the effective interest method of any difference between 
that initial amount and the maturity amount, and minus any reduction 
(directly or through the use of an allowance account) for impairment or 
un-collectability.  In the case of originated loans amortized cost is the fair 
value cash consideration given to originate those loans as is determinable 
by reference to market prices at originated date. 

 
 
 
 
 
      

 

 
 

NATIONAL CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE TWO MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010 
 

 
 
 
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d) 
 

(d)       Financial Assets (cont’d) 
 
Impairment of Financial Assets 
 
The Credit Union measures financial assets at amortized cost if both of the 
following conditions are met: the asset is held within a business model 
whose objective is to hold assets in order to collect contractual cash flows; 
and the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates 
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the 
principal amount outstanding. 
 
The Credit Union measures financial assets at fair value unless it is 
measured at amortized cost in accordance with related classification 
requirements.  At initial recognition, the Credit Union measures a financial 
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value 
through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the 
acquisition of the financial asset. 
 
A financial asset is impaired if its carrying amount is greater than its 
estimated recoverable amount.  The amount of the impairment loss for 
assets carried at amortized cost is calculated as the difference between the 
assets carrying amount and the present value of the expected future cash 
flows discounted at the financial instruments original interest rate.  By 
comparison, the recoverable amounts of an instrument measured at a fair 
value is the present value of expected cash flows discounted at the current 
market rate of interest for a similar financial asset.  Interest earned while 
holding investment securities are reported as interest income. 
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NATIONAL CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE TWO MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010 
 
 
 
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d) 
 
 
           (c) Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 

For the purpose of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents 
comprise balances with less that three months maturity from the date of 
acquisition.  

 
(d)        Financial Assets 

 
A financial asset is any asset that is cash; an equity instrument of another 
entity; a contractual right to receive cash or another financial asset from 
another entity, or to exchange financial asset or financial liabilities with 
another entity under conditions that are potentially favorable to the entity; 
or a contract that will or may be settled in the entity’s own equity 
instruments. 

 
The Credit Union classifies its financial assets in the following categories: 
Originated loans; Held-to-Maturity Investments; and Available-for-Sale 
Investments.  Management determines the classification of its investments 
at initial recognition and re-evaluates the designation at every reporting 
date. 
 
Originated loans and provision for loan impairment 
Loans originated by the Credit Union represent money provided directly to 
the borrower (Member and Credit Union staff) as drawn down debt 
securities purchased at original issuance, where funds were transferred 
directly by the issuer, and loans originated by the Credit Union are carried 
at amortised cost. 
 
The amortized cost of a financial asset (or financial liability) is the amount 
at which the financial asset (or financial liability) is measured at initial 
recognition minus principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative 
amortization using the effective interest method of any difference between 
that initial amount and the maturity amount, and minus any reduction 
(directly or through the use of an allowance account) for impairment or 
un-collectability.  In the case of originated loans amortized cost is the fair 
value cash consideration given to originate those loans as is determinable 
by reference to market prices at originated date. 

 
 
 
 
 
      

 

 
 

NATIONAL CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE TWO MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010 
 

 
 
 
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d) 
 

(d)       Financial Assets (cont’d) 
 
Impairment of Financial Assets 
 
The Credit Union measures financial assets at amortized cost if both of the 
following conditions are met: the asset is held within a business model 
whose objective is to hold assets in order to collect contractual cash flows; 
and the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates 
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the 
principal amount outstanding. 
 
The Credit Union measures financial assets at fair value unless it is 
measured at amortized cost in accordance with related classification 
requirements.  At initial recognition, the Credit Union measures a financial 
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value 
through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the 
acquisition of the financial asset. 
 
A financial asset is impaired if its carrying amount is greater than its 
estimated recoverable amount.  The amount of the impairment loss for 
assets carried at amortized cost is calculated as the difference between the 
assets carrying amount and the present value of the expected future cash 
flows discounted at the financial instruments original interest rate.  By 
comparison, the recoverable amounts of an instrument measured at a fair 
value is the present value of expected cash flows discounted at the current 
market rate of interest for a similar financial asset.  Interest earned while 
holding investment securities are reported as interest income. 
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NATIONAL CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE TWO MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010 
 
 
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d) 

 
(d)        Financial Assets (cont’d) 

 
The Credit Union assesses at the end of each reporting period whether 
there is any objective evidence that financial asset or group of financial 
assets measured at amortized cost is impaired.  A financial asset or a group 
of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred if, and 
only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or 
more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (“loss 
event”) and the loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated 
future cash flows of the financial assets or group of financial assets that 
can be reliably estimated. 
 
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and 
receivables or Held-to-Maturity Investments carried at amortized cost has 
been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference 
between the assets’ carrying amount and present value of estimated future 
cash flows. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of 
an allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognized in the 
statement of comprehensive income. 

 
Investment Securities 
 
Investment securities are classified as held-to-maturity and available for 
sale. 

   
  Held to Maturity 
   

Held to maturity investments are non derivative financial assets with fixed 
determinable payments and fixed maturities that the Credit Union’s 
management has the positive intention and ability to hold maturity.  Were 
the Credit Union to sell other than an insignificant amount of held to 
maturity assets, the entire category would be tainted and reclassified as 
available for sale. 
 

 
Held-to-maturity investments are carried at amortised cost using the 
interest rates in effect, less any provision for impairment. 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

NATIONAL CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE TWO MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010 
 
 
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d) 
 

(d)        Financial Assets (cont’d) 
 
Available for sale 

 
 Available for sale investments are those intended to be held for an 
indefinite period of time, which may be sold in response to needs for 
liquidity or changes in interests rates, exchange rates or equity prices.  
Unrealized gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of 
securities classifies as available-for-sale are recognised in the members’ 
equity. When securities are disposed or impaired, the related accumulated 
fair value adjustments are included in the income statements as gains or 
losses from investments.  Investments securities are initially recognised at 
cost (which includes transaction costs.) 

 
Impairment of Financial Assets (cont’d) 
 
(i) Significant financial difficulty of the issuer or obligor; 
 
(ii) A breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or 

principal payments; 
 
(iii) The Credit Union granting to the borrower, for economic or legal 

reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, a concession 
that the lender would not otherwise consider; 

 
(iv) It becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or 

other financial reorganization; 
 

(v) The disappearance of an active market for the financial asset 
because of financial difficulties. 

 
(vi) Observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in 

estimated future cash flows from a group of financial assets since 
the initial recognition of those assets, although the decrease cannot 
yet be indentified with the individual financial assets in the group 
including: 
- adverse changes in the payment status or borrowers in the 

group or 
- national or local economic conditions that correlate with 

defaults on the assets in the group. 
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NATIONAL CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE TWO MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010 
 
 
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d) 

 
(d)        Financial Assets (cont’d) 

 
The Credit Union assesses at the end of each reporting period whether 
there is any objective evidence that financial asset or group of financial 
assets measured at amortized cost is impaired.  A financial asset or a group 
of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred if, and 
only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or 
more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (“loss 
event”) and the loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated 
future cash flows of the financial assets or group of financial assets that 
can be reliably estimated. 
 
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and 
receivables or Held-to-Maturity Investments carried at amortized cost has 
been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference 
between the assets’ carrying amount and present value of estimated future 
cash flows. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of 
an allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognized in the 
statement of comprehensive income. 

 
Investment Securities 
 
Investment securities are classified as held-to-maturity and available for 
sale. 

   
  Held to Maturity 
   

Held to maturity investments are non derivative financial assets with fixed 
determinable payments and fixed maturities that the Credit Union’s 
management has the positive intention and ability to hold maturity.  Were 
the Credit Union to sell other than an insignificant amount of held to 
maturity assets, the entire category would be tainted and reclassified as 
available for sale. 
 

 
Held-to-maturity investments are carried at amortised cost using the 
interest rates in effect, less any provision for impairment. 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

NATIONAL CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE TWO MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010 
 
 
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d) 
 

(d)        Financial Assets (cont’d) 
 
Available for sale 

 
 Available for sale investments are those intended to be held for an 
indefinite period of time, which may be sold in response to needs for 
liquidity or changes in interests rates, exchange rates or equity prices.  
Unrealized gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of 
securities classifies as available-for-sale are recognised in the members’ 
equity. When securities are disposed or impaired, the related accumulated 
fair value adjustments are included in the income statements as gains or 
losses from investments.  Investments securities are initially recognised at 
cost (which includes transaction costs.) 

 
Impairment of Financial Assets (cont’d) 
 
(i) Significant financial difficulty of the issuer or obligor; 
 
(ii) A breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or 

principal payments; 
 
(iii) The Credit Union granting to the borrower, for economic or legal 

reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, a concession 
that the lender would not otherwise consider; 

 
(iv) It becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or 

other financial reorganization; 
 

(v) The disappearance of an active market for the financial asset 
because of financial difficulties. 

 
(vi) Observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in 

estimated future cash flows from a group of financial assets since 
the initial recognition of those assets, although the decrease cannot 
yet be indentified with the individual financial assets in the group 
including: 
- adverse changes in the payment status or borrowers in the 

group or 
- national or local economic conditions that correlate with 

defaults on the assets in the group. 
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NATIONAL CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE TWO MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010 
 

 
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d) 
 

(d)        Financial Assets (cont’d) 
 
Impairment of Financial Assets (cont’d) 

 
 
The calculation of the present value of the estimated future cash flows of a 
collateralized financial asset reflects the cash flows that may result from 
foreclosure less cost for obtaining and selling collateral, whether or not 
foreclosure is probable. 
 
For the purpose of a collective evaluation of impairment, financial asset 
are grouped on the basis of similar credit risk characteristics (i.e., on the 
basis of the Credit Union’s grading process that considers asset type, 
industry, geographical location, collateral type, past-due status and other 
relevant factors).  Those characteristics are relevant to the estimation of 
future cash flows for groups of such assets being indicative of debtors’ 
ability to pay all amounts due according to the contractual term of the 
assets being evaluated. 
 
Future cash flows in a group of financial assets that are collectively 
evaluated for impairment are estimated on the basis of the contractual cash 
flows of the assets in the group and historical loss experience for assets 
with credit risk characteristics similar to those in the group.  Historical 
loss experience is adjusted on the basis of current observable data to 
reflect the effects of current conditions that did not affect the period on 
which the historical loss experience is based and to remove the effects of 
conditions in the historical period that do not exist currently. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                                
 

 
 

NATIONAL CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE TWO MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010 
 

 
 
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d) 

 
(d) Financial Assets (cont’d) 

 
Impairment of Financial Assets (cont’d) 
 
Estimates of changes in future cash flows for group assets should reflect 
and be directionally consistent with changes in related observable data 
from period to period (for example, changes in unemployment rates, 
property prices, payment statues, or other factors indicative of changes in 
the probability of losses in the group and there magnitude).  The 
methodology and assumptions used for estimating future cash flows are 
reviewed regularly by the group to reduce any difference between loss 
estimates and actual loss experience. 
 
When a loan is uncollectible, it is written off against the related provision 
for loan impairment.  Such loans are written off after all the necessary 
procedures have been completed and the amount of the loss has been 
determined. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off 
decrease the amount of the provision for loan impairment in the income 
statement. 
 
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decrease and 
the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the 
impairment was recognised (such as an improvement in the debtor’s credit 
rating), the previously recognised impairment loss is revised by adjusting 
the allowance account. The amount of the reversal is recognised in the 
income statement. 
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NATIONAL CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE TWO MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010 
 

 
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d) 
 

(d)        Financial Assets (cont’d) 
 
Impairment of Financial Assets (cont’d) 

 
 
The calculation of the present value of the estimated future cash flows of a 
collateralized financial asset reflects the cash flows that may result from 
foreclosure less cost for obtaining and selling collateral, whether or not 
foreclosure is probable. 
 
For the purpose of a collective evaluation of impairment, financial asset 
are grouped on the basis of similar credit risk characteristics (i.e., on the 
basis of the Credit Union’s grading process that considers asset type, 
industry, geographical location, collateral type, past-due status and other 
relevant factors).  Those characteristics are relevant to the estimation of 
future cash flows for groups of such assets being indicative of debtors’ 
ability to pay all amounts due according to the contractual term of the 
assets being evaluated. 
 
Future cash flows in a group of financial assets that are collectively 
evaluated for impairment are estimated on the basis of the contractual cash 
flows of the assets in the group and historical loss experience for assets 
with credit risk characteristics similar to those in the group.  Historical 
loss experience is adjusted on the basis of current observable data to 
reflect the effects of current conditions that did not affect the period on 
which the historical loss experience is based and to remove the effects of 
conditions in the historical period that do not exist currently. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                                
 

 
 

NATIONAL CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE TWO MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010 
 

 
 
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d) 

 
(d) Financial Assets (cont’d) 

 
Impairment of Financial Assets (cont’d) 
 
Estimates of changes in future cash flows for group assets should reflect 
and be directionally consistent with changes in related observable data 
from period to period (for example, changes in unemployment rates, 
property prices, payment statues, or other factors indicative of changes in 
the probability of losses in the group and there magnitude).  The 
methodology and assumptions used for estimating future cash flows are 
reviewed regularly by the group to reduce any difference between loss 
estimates and actual loss experience. 
 
When a loan is uncollectible, it is written off against the related provision 
for loan impairment.  Such loans are written off after all the necessary 
procedures have been completed and the amount of the loss has been 
determined. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off 
decrease the amount of the provision for loan impairment in the income 
statement. 
 
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decrease and 
the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the 
impairment was recognised (such as an improvement in the debtor’s credit 
rating), the previously recognised impairment loss is revised by adjusting 
the allowance account. The amount of the reversal is recognised in the 
income statement. 
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NATIONAL CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE TWO MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010 
 
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d) 

 
(e)        Functional Currency and Foreign Currency Transactions and        

 Translations 
 
The functional and presentation currency is the Eastern Caribbean Dollar 
(EC$).  The Eastern Caribbean Dollar is pegged to the United States 
Dollar (US$) at an exchange rate of, US$1 = EC$2.67. 
 
Foreign currency transactions are recorded on initial recognition in the 
functional currency by applying to the foreign currency amounts the spot 
exchange rates between the functional currency and the foreign currency 
at the date of each transaction. 
 
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at 
October 31, 2010 are translated into Eastern Caribbean Dollars using the 
closing exchange rate. 
 

(f)        Property and equipment 
 

Property and equipment are stated at historical cost less depreciation.  
Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the 
acquisition of the items. 
All repairs and maintenance represents cost of the day to day servicing of 
items of property and equipment and are charged to the statement of 
comprehensive income during the financial period in which they are 
incurred. 
Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line method to write down the 
cost of such assets to their residual value over their estimated useful lives 
as follows: 
 Buildings     25-50 years 
 Furniture, fixtures and equipment  5-7 years 
 Computer systems    3-5 years 
 Motor vehicles    4 years 
Land is not depreciated 
 
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with 
the carrying amount and are included in the income statement. Assets that 
are subject to amortization are reviewed for impairment whenever events 
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be 
recoverable.            
          

NATIONAL CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE TWO MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010 
 
 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d) 
 

(g) Dividends 
 

Dividends on shares are recognised in equity in the period in which they 
are declared. 
 
Section 5 of the Co-operative Societies Regulations S.R.O No. 26 of 2001 
authorizes the Society to pay a dividend on its shares at a rate which is not 
greater than three percent above the savings rate set by the Eastern 
Caribbean Central Bank (ECCB).  As at December 31, 2010 the ECCB 
savings rate was three percent.  Fair values gains on securities held to 
maturity are not considered in determining income for the distribution of 
dividends. 

 
(h) Interest Income and expense 
 

Loan interest income is recognized when received and/or accrued for not 
more than three (3) months. Interest income and expense are recognised in 
the income statement for all interest bearing instruments on an accrual 
basis using effective interest rates. Interest income includes income on 
fixed investment. 
 
If loans become doubtful, they would be written down to their recoverable 
amounts and interest income is thereafter recognized based on the rate of 
interest used to discount the future cash flow for the purpose of measuring 
the recoverable amount. 
 

(i) Other income 
 
Other income and dividend income are recognized when received. 
 

 
(j) Taxation 
 

The Society’s income is exempt from taxation under Section 25(m) of the 
income Tax Act Chapter 67:01 of the laws of the Commonwealth of 
Dominica. 
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NATIONAL CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE TWO MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010 
 
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d) 

 
(e)        Functional Currency and Foreign Currency Transactions and        

 Translations 
 
The functional and presentation currency is the Eastern Caribbean Dollar 
(EC$).  The Eastern Caribbean Dollar is pegged to the United States 
Dollar (US$) at an exchange rate of, US$1 = EC$2.67. 
 
Foreign currency transactions are recorded on initial recognition in the 
functional currency by applying to the foreign currency amounts the spot 
exchange rates between the functional currency and the foreign currency 
at the date of each transaction. 
 
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at 
October 31, 2010 are translated into Eastern Caribbean Dollars using the 
closing exchange rate. 
 

(f)        Property and equipment 
 

Property and equipment are stated at historical cost less depreciation.  
Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the 
acquisition of the items. 
All repairs and maintenance represents cost of the day to day servicing of 
items of property and equipment and are charged to the statement of 
comprehensive income during the financial period in which they are 
incurred. 
Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line method to write down the 
cost of such assets to their residual value over their estimated useful lives 
as follows: 
 Buildings     25-50 years 
 Furniture, fixtures and equipment  5-7 years 
 Computer systems    3-5 years 
 Motor vehicles    4 years 
Land is not depreciated 
 
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with 
the carrying amount and are included in the income statement. Assets that 
are subject to amortization are reviewed for impairment whenever events 
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be 
recoverable.            
          

NATIONAL CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE TWO MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010 
 
 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d) 
 

(g) Dividends 
 

Dividends on shares are recognised in equity in the period in which they 
are declared. 
 
Section 5 of the Co-operative Societies Regulations S.R.O No. 26 of 2001 
authorizes the Society to pay a dividend on its shares at a rate which is not 
greater than three percent above the savings rate set by the Eastern 
Caribbean Central Bank (ECCB).  As at December 31, 2010 the ECCB 
savings rate was three percent.  Fair values gains on securities held to 
maturity are not considered in determining income for the distribution of 
dividends. 

 
(h) Interest Income and expense 
 

Loan interest income is recognized when received and/or accrued for not 
more than three (3) months. Interest income and expense are recognised in 
the income statement for all interest bearing instruments on an accrual 
basis using effective interest rates. Interest income includes income on 
fixed investment. 
 
If loans become doubtful, they would be written down to their recoverable 
amounts and interest income is thereafter recognized based on the rate of 
interest used to discount the future cash flow for the purpose of measuring 
the recoverable amount. 
 

(i) Other income 
 
Other income and dividend income are recognized when received. 
 

 
(j) Taxation 
 

The Society’s income is exempt from taxation under Section 25(m) of the 
income Tax Act Chapter 67:01 of the laws of the Commonwealth of 
Dominica. 
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NATIONAL CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE TWO MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010 
 
 
 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d) 
 

(k) Comparative Figures 
 

Where necessary, certain comparative figures have been reclassified to 
conform to the current year’s presentation. Comparative figures were 
audited by another firm of auditors. 

 
 
 

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
 

Financial assets of the Society include cash, accounts receivable, fixed deposits 
and members’ loans. 

 
Financial liabilities of the Society include accounts payable and provision, term 
deposits, members’ fixed and saving deposits. The Society’s activities relate 
principally to the use of financial instruments. As such, the Society is exposed to 
financial risks and the principles utilized by management in dealing with these 
risks are set out below. 

 
(a) Credit risk  

 
This is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a 
financial loss for the other party by failing to discharge an obligation.  The 
Credit Union is exposed to credit risk to the extent that borrowers 
(Members and Credit Union Staff) are unable to pay amounts in full when 
due.  The Credit Union is guided by a general loan policy which is 
reviewed regularly, taking into consideration changes in the economy and 
or the status of particular segments of the Credit Union’s loan portfolio.  
The Credit Union also relies on the judgement of the Board and special 
committees, as well as key management personnel to manage the credit 
risk. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

NATIONAL CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE TWO MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010 
 

3.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d) 
 

(b) Interest Rate Risk 
 

This is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial 
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.  The 
effect of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest rate is 
ultimately scrutinized to maintain any possible over-exposures.  The 
Board however endeavors to maintain an interest rate which would still 
attract adequate liquidity for possible demands. 

 
 (c) Liquidity Risk 

 
This is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting 
obligations associated with financial liabilities that are settled by 
delivering cash or another financial asset.  Liquidity risk is managed by 
carefully monitoring and maintaining financial asset of adequate 
maturities to service commitments associated with financial liabilities that 
require outflows of cash or another financial asset.  The Credit Union is 
particularly prudent in ensuring that there is adequate liquidity to service 
Members’ demands while also ensuring the most productive application of 
funds given the contractual maturities of financial liabilities. 

 
(d)      Market Risk 

 
This is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial 
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices.  The Credit 
Union is exposed to equity securities price risk arising from investments 
held by the Credit Union and classified on the balance sheet as available for 
sale.  Market risk also includes currency risk and interest rate risk. 

 
(e)     Currency Risk 

 
This is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial 
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates.  
The Credit Union is exposed to currency risk from investments held in 
Trinidad and US Money Markets.  Management monitors those 
investments so that the exposure to the Credit Union is minimized.  The 
functional currency – Eastern Caribbean Dollar, is pegged to the US Dollar 
at a fixed rate and fluctuates against the Trinidad Dollar, and other 
currencies. 
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NATIONAL CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE TWO MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010 
 
 
 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d) 
 

(k) Comparative Figures 
 

Where necessary, certain comparative figures have been reclassified to 
conform to the current year’s presentation. Comparative figures were 
audited by another firm of auditors. 

 
 
 

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
 

Financial assets of the Society include cash, accounts receivable, fixed deposits 
and members’ loans. 

 
Financial liabilities of the Society include accounts payable and provision, term 
deposits, members’ fixed and saving deposits. The Society’s activities relate 
principally to the use of financial instruments. As such, the Society is exposed to 
financial risks and the principles utilized by management in dealing with these 
risks are set out below. 

 
(a) Credit risk  

 
This is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a 
financial loss for the other party by failing to discharge an obligation.  The 
Credit Union is exposed to credit risk to the extent that borrowers 
(Members and Credit Union Staff) are unable to pay amounts in full when 
due.  The Credit Union is guided by a general loan policy which is 
reviewed regularly, taking into consideration changes in the economy and 
or the status of particular segments of the Credit Union’s loan portfolio.  
The Credit Union also relies on the judgement of the Board and special 
committees, as well as key management personnel to manage the credit 
risk. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

NATIONAL CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE TWO MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010 
 

3.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d) 
 

(b) Interest Rate Risk 
 

This is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial 
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.  The 
effect of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest rate is 
ultimately scrutinized to maintain any possible over-exposures.  The 
Board however endeavors to maintain an interest rate which would still 
attract adequate liquidity for possible demands. 

 
 (c) Liquidity Risk 

 
This is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting 
obligations associated with financial liabilities that are settled by 
delivering cash or another financial asset.  Liquidity risk is managed by 
carefully monitoring and maintaining financial asset of adequate 
maturities to service commitments associated with financial liabilities that 
require outflows of cash or another financial asset.  The Credit Union is 
particularly prudent in ensuring that there is adequate liquidity to service 
Members’ demands while also ensuring the most productive application of 
funds given the contractual maturities of financial liabilities. 

 
(d)      Market Risk 

 
This is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial 
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices.  The Credit 
Union is exposed to equity securities price risk arising from investments 
held by the Credit Union and classified on the balance sheet as available for 
sale.  Market risk also includes currency risk and interest rate risk. 

 
(e)     Currency Risk 

 
This is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial 
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates.  
The Credit Union is exposed to currency risk from investments held in 
Trinidad and US Money Markets.  Management monitors those 
investments so that the exposure to the Credit Union is minimized.  The 
functional currency – Eastern Caribbean Dollar, is pegged to the US Dollar 
at a fixed rate and fluctuates against the Trinidad Dollar, and other 
currencies. 
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NATIONAL CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE TWO MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010 
 
 

3.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d) 
 

(f) Operational Risk 
 

The Society’s activities are principally related to the use of financial 
instruments. The financial assets of the Society include: cash accounts 
receivable, fixed deposits, and loans to members. Financial liabilities of the 
Society include: term deposits and members’ fixed and savings deposits. 
From its use of financial instruments the Society is exposed to financial risks 
– the principles utilized by Management in dealing with these risks are noted 
below. 
 

(g)   Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabilities 
 

Fair value amounts represent estimates of the consideration that would 
currently be agreed upon between knowledgeable willing parties who are 
under no compulsion to act and is best evidenced by a quoted market value, if 
one exists.  The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate 
the fair value of financial instruments. 
 
The fair value cash resources, accounts receivable and accounts payable are 
assumed to approximate their carrying value due to their short term value. 
 
The fair values of securities are assumed to be equal to the estimated market 
value.  The fair values of unquoted securities are estimated at book value 
which is not significantly different from their carrying value. 
 
The estimated fair value of members’ loans reflect changes in interest rates 
that have occurred since the loans were originated and is determined by 
discounting contracted future cash flows, over the remaining term to 
maturity, at current interest rates.  The estimated fair values of members’ 
loans are not significantly different from their carrying values. 
 
The estimated fair value of deposits with no stated maturity, which include 
non-interest bearing deposits, is the amount repayable on demand.  Deposits 
payable on a fixed date are at rates which reflect market conditions and are 
assumed to have fair values which approximate carrying values. 

172.11 nccu annual report.indd   36 5/24/11   11:35 AM



37

National Co-operative Credit Union Limited

N
AT

IO
N

A
L 

C
O

-O
PE

R
AT

IV
E 

C
R

ED
IT

 U
N

IO
N

 L
IM

IT
ED

 
   

   
   

N
O

T
ES

 T
O

 T
H

E 
FI

N
A

N
C

IA
L 

ST
AT

EM
EN

T
S

  F
O

R
 T

H
E 

T
W

O
 M

O
N

T
H

S 
EN

D
ED

 D
EC

EM
B

ER
 3

1,
 2

01
0

R
O

SE
AU

LA
ST

.
V

IE
LL

E
ST

.
T

O
T

A
L

SA
LE

T
T

E
D

AV
ID

C
A

SE
PA

U
L

4.
   

C
as

h 
an

d 
B

an
k 

B
al

an
ce

s
EC

$
EC

$
EC

$
EC

$
EC

$
EC

$
   

   
 C

as
h 

on
 h

an
d

1,
19

8,
20

9
69

,4
04

22
,1

01
11

,5
72

10
9,

82
7

1,
41

1,
11

3
   

   
 C

ur
re

nt
 a

cc
ou

nt
s

4,
07

2,
39

6
40

7,
95

7
20

0,
06

0
70

3,
15

9
1,

05
9,

03
4

6,
44

2,
60

6
5,

27
0,

60
5

47
7,

36
1

22
2,

16
1

71
4,

73
1

1,
16

8,
86

1
7,

85
3,

71
9

5.
   

St
at

ut
or

y 
R

es
er

ve
 D

ep
os

it
   

   
Fi

xe
d 

D
ep

os
its

 a
t b

an
ks

14
,3

58
,1

11
 --

--
 --

--
 --

--
 --

--
14

,3
58

,1
11

   
   

D
em

an
d 

de
po

sit
 a

t D
om

in
ic

a 
C

o-
op

 S
oc

ie
tie

s L
ea

gu
e 

Lt
d

72
7,

52
4

16
,1

55
23

8,
64

8
57

5,
01

9
38

0,
60

3
1,

93
7,

94
9

15
,0

85
,6

35
16

,1
55

23
8,

64
8

57
5,

01
9

38
0,

60
3

16
,2

96
,0

60

6.
   

Sh
ar

es
 a

t D
om

in
ic

a 
C

o-
op

er
at

iv
e 

So
ci

et
ie

s 
Le

ag
ue

 L
td

25
,1

00
19

,9
80

8,
70

5
42

,0
00

35
,5

00
13

1,
28

5
7.

  (
a)

   
 In

ve
st

m
en

t S
ec

ur
it

ie
s:

 h
el

d 
to

 m
at

ur
it

y
   

   
   

   
  E

.C
 H

om
e 

M
or

tg
ag

e 
Ba

nk
 B

on
d

2,
25

0,
00

0
 --

--
 --

--
 --

--
  -

--
-

2,
25

0,
00

0
   

   
   

   
  F

ix
ed

 d
ep

os
its

 a
t L

ea
gu

e 
an

d 
C

re
di

t U
ni

on
s

1,
07

7,
65

5
30

0,
13

8
6,

51
3

98
,8

10
10

0,
00

0
1,

58
3,

11
6

   
   

   
   

  F
ix

ed
 d

ep
os

its
 a

t b
an

ks
 a

nd
 o

th
er

 in
sti

tu
tio

ns
52

,3
51

,3
92

17
,9

25
 --

--
14

5,
40

4
21

5,
00

0
52

,7
29

,7
21

   
   

   
   

  F
ix

ed
 d

ep
os

its
 a

t i
ns

ur
an

ce
 c

om
pa

ni
es

7,
00

3,
09

1
1,

05
1,

60
4

10
8,

35
1

49
7,

08
0

60
0,

00
0

9,
26

0,
12

6
   

   
   

   
  I

m
pa

irm
en

t (
7 

(a
1)

)
(1

,9
32

,6
18

)
(2

45
,4

97
)

(4
7,

62
1)

(1
29

,5
19

)
(2

20
,0

00
)

(2
,5

75
,2

55
)

60
,7

49
,5

20
1,

12
4,

17
0

67
,2

43
61

1,
77

5
69

5,
00

0
63

,2
47

,7
08

7.
  (

a1
)  

Pr
ov

is
io

n 
fo

r 
Im

pa
ir

m
en

t
   

   
   

   
  P

ro
vi

si
on

 -a
t a

m
al

ga
m

at
io

n 
da

te
1,

77
1,

56
6

21
6,

27
5

46
,5

51
11

8,
37

9
22

0,
00

0
2,

37
2,

77
1

   
   

   
   

  C
LI

C
O

 In
te

rn
at

io
na

l
72

,3
85

5,
83

2
 --

--
1,

66
6

 --
--

79
,8

83
   

   
   

   
  B

rit
ish

 A
m

er
ic

an
 In

su
ra

nc
e

88
,6

67
23

,3
90

1,
07

0
9,

47
4

 --
--

12
2,

60
1

   
   

   
   

  P
ro

vi
si

on
 - 

en
d 

of
 p

er
io

d
1,

93
2,

61
8

24
5,

49
7

47
,6

21
12

9,
51

9
22

0,
00

0
2,

57
5,

25
5


e 

So
ci

et
y'

s m
an

ag
em

en
t h

as
 re

qu
es

te
d 

th
at

 it
s m

at
ur

ed
 d

ep
os

its
 w

ith
 C

LI
C

O
 b

e 
en

ca
sh

ed
.  

H
ow

ev
er

 th
e 

fu
nd

s h
av

e 
no

t y
et

 b
ee

n 
re

m
itt

ed
to

 th
e 

So
ci

et
y.

Br
iti

sh
 A

m
er

ic
an

 In
su

ra
nc

e 
is 

in
so

lv
en

t a
nd

 is
 u

nd
er

 ju
di

ca
l m

an
ag

em
en

t.


e 

So
ci

et
y'

s m
an

ag
em

en
t h

as
 m

ad
e 

a 
pr

ov
isi

on
 fo

r t
he

se
 in

ve
stm

en
t a

ga
in

st 
po

ss
ib

le
 lo

ss
es

.

NATIONAL CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE TWO MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010 
 
 

3.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d) 
 

(f) Operational Risk 
 

The Society’s activities are principally related to the use of financial 
instruments. The financial assets of the Society include: cash accounts 
receivable, fixed deposits, and loans to members. Financial liabilities of the 
Society include: term deposits and members’ fixed and savings deposits. 
From its use of financial instruments the Society is exposed to financial risks 
– the principles utilized by Management in dealing with these risks are noted 
below. 
 

(g)   Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabilities 
 

Fair value amounts represent estimates of the consideration that would 
currently be agreed upon between knowledgeable willing parties who are 
under no compulsion to act and is best evidenced by a quoted market value, if 
one exists.  The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate 
the fair value of financial instruments. 
 
The fair value cash resources, accounts receivable and accounts payable are 
assumed to approximate their carrying value due to their short term value. 
 
The fair values of securities are assumed to be equal to the estimated market 
value.  The fair values of unquoted securities are estimated at book value 
which is not significantly different from their carrying value. 
 
The estimated fair value of members’ loans reflect changes in interest rates 
that have occurred since the loans were originated and is determined by 
discounting contracted future cash flows, over the remaining term to 
maturity, at current interest rates.  The estimated fair values of members’ 
loans are not significantly different from their carrying values. 
 
The estimated fair value of deposits with no stated maturity, which include 
non-interest bearing deposits, is the amount repayable on demand.  Deposits 
payable on a fixed date are at rates which reflect market conditions and are 
assumed to have fair values which approximate carrying values. 
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National Co-operative Credit Union Limited

    NATIONAL CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

  FOR THE TWO MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010

Dec-31-10
EC$

22.   Net Interest Income

         Interest Income
         Income from loans 3,609,231
         Income from Investments 91,088
         Interest on fixed deposit 833,372

4,533,691

          Interest Expense
          Interest on borrowed funds 3400
          Interest on term deposits 740,980
          Interest on members' savings/deposits 774,935
          Interest on MRA 229,780
          Interest on Christmas savings club 975

1,750,070

          Net Interest Income 2,783,621

23.   Other Income

        Rent  9,475
        Cheque book fees 30,159
        Sale of rule and pass books 2,214
        Professional services 44,413
        Sundry services charge 21,313
        Bad debts recovered/written off 3,500
        Other Income 23,507

134,581

    NATIONAL CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

  FOR THE TWO MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010

Dec-31-10
EC$

24.   Operating Costs
        Personnel expenses (see note 23(a) ) 977,992
        Governance (Board & committees' expenses and honoraria) 31,514
        CUNA Insurance 144,171
        Annual General Meeting 4,499
        Scholarship 5,588
        Overseas Travel and conference 22,467
        Computer services and expenses 61,977
        Stationery and office supplies 29,997
        Fraternity expenses 34,026
        Audit fee 15,000
        Occupancy expenses 140,261
        Insurance building and content 30,064
        General expenses (see note 25 (b) ) 339,406

1,836,962
25(a).  Personal Expenses   
           Salaries, staff benefits & allowances 860,620
           Social Security 51,014
           Training  ----
           Pension & insurance 18,388
           Uniforms allowances and transportation 47,970

977,992
25 (a1). Key Management Compensation
             Salaries and allownaces 266,660
             Gratuity 31,038

297,698
25 (b). General Expenses
           Security services 17,759
           Postage 4,781
           Advertising, publicity and promotions/dues 56,564
           Insurance - other 6,618
           Donations 6,819
           ATM services and expenses 29,031
           Entertainment 5,189
           Valuation and Legal fees 10,084
           Maintenance of fixed assets 56,995
           Amalgamation expenses 127,175
           Bank charges 4,931
           Other 13,461

339,407
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    NATIONAL CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

  FOR THE TWO MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010
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           ATM services and expenses 29,031
           Entertainment 5,189
           Valuation and Legal fees 10,084
           Maintenance of fixed assets 56,995
           Amalgamation expenses 127,175
           Bank charges 4,931
           Other 13,461
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National Co-operative Credit Union Limited

Supervisory Committee Report
For the period November 2010 to December 2010

INTRODUCTION
The Supervisory Committee is 
pleased to report for the period ended 
December 31, 2010.  The Committee 
performed its duties in accordance with 
the requirements of the Co-operative 
Societies Act No. 15 of 1996 of the 
Commonwealth of Dominica and the 
policies of the Society.

In addition, the Committee was quite 
vigilant in ensuring that the relevant 
issues were treated in accordance with 
the new measures as prescribed by the 
International Accounting Standards 32 
& 39.

Volunteers serving on the NCCU 
Supervisory Committee for the year 
under review were:-

Mrs. Linda Gonzalez-Peltier John		
Chairperson

Mr. Clement Marcellin Jr.			 
Deputy Chairperson 

Miss Nadette Williams		
Secretary

Mrs. Cynthia Joseph 		            
Assistant Secretary	

Miss Esther C. Shillingford			 
Member

Mr. Ian-Michael Anthony			 
Member

Miss Ingrid Roosburg		
Member

Mr. Mervyn Dailey				  
Member 

Mr. Augustus C. Etienne			 
Member 

Mr. David E. Maximea		
Member

Mr. Jason R. Francis			 
Member

Mr. Rupert Lance				  
Member

Mr. Festus Dalrymple		
Member

Mr. Augustus Lewis			 
Member - Alternate

Mr. Jeremiah Polydore		
Member - Alternate
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The number of meetings held during the 
period and the attendance by members 
of the Committee at these meetings is as 
follows:- 

Committee Members Meetings 
Called

Meetings 
Attended

Excused/  
Absent

Augustus Claytus Etienne 8 8 -

Clement Marcellin Jr. 8 8 -

Cynthia Joseph 8 8 -

David E. Maximea 8 8 -

Esther C. Shillingford 8 8 -

Festus Dalrymple 8 8 -

Ian-Michael Anthony 8 8 -

Ingrid Roosburg 8 7 1

Jason R.  Francis 8 7 1

Linda Gonzalez-Peltier John 8 8 -

Mervyn Dailey 8 8 -

Nadette Williams 8 8 -

Rupert Lance 8 7 1

Alternates

Augustus Lewis 4 2 2

Jeremiah Polydore 4 2 2

SUMMARY OF MAJOR ACTIVITIES
During the period, the Committee 
undertook a number of activities to 
ensure that the business of the Society 

was properly managed.  
The Committee 
held meetings at the 
various branch offices 
reviewing the various 
committee reports and 
inspecting the offices.

The Committee 
scheduled meetings for 
the second and fourth 
Thursdays of the 
month. When required 
the Committee held 
special meetings. 
In addition, the 
Committee was 
instrumental in 
organizing a PEARLS 
training for all 
committees on 
Saturday November 
20, 2010.

TRAINING
In order to effectively 
carry out its function, 
as mandated by the 
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Co-operative Societies Act No. 15 of 
1996, the Regulations and the By-laws 
of the Society, it was important that 
members receive continuous training.  In 
light of this, members of the Committee 
organized and attended training in 
PEARLS RATIO in collaboration with 
the Dominica Co-operative Societies 
League Limited. 

REVIEWS CONDUCTED 
The Committee reviewed reports/
minutes of all the Committees from the 
five (5) branches that formed the NCCU 
to evaluate what had been occurring at 
the various branches prior to  and post 
amalgamation.

REVIEW OF STAFF AND 
VOLUNTEERS ACCOUNTS
In accordance with Section 50(4) (b) of 
the Co-operative Societies Act No. 15 of 
1996, the Committee is pleased to report 
that staff and volunteers were found to 
be in good standing with the Society.

DELINQUENCY
The Committee wishes to encourage our 
loans personnel to continue exercising 
caution with regards to delinquency 
and to take prompt action when it first 
occurs.  We continue to hold the view 

that if delinquency is not kept within 
manageable limits, it could threaten the 
existence of the Society.

CASH COUNT
The End of Year Cash Count was 
conducted in collaboration with the 
External Auditor.  No irregularities were 
observed.

FUTURE PROSPECTS
Management must continue to monitor 
closely the Society’s expenditure to keep 
it in line with its income, and also to 
realize cost savings as far as possible.  The 
difference between the cost of funds and 
the on lending rates continues to be a 
challenge confronting the Society.

Institutions, such as the NCCU, are 
not immune to exogenous shocks in the 
global financial climate and as a result 
it is absolutely imperative that all bases 
are covered in the event of any such 
occurrences in the future. The Society is 
in a sound financial position presently; 
however, Management, Staff, Members 
and Volunteers need to guard against 
complacency.

As we move forward into 2011, we look 
forward to the overall strengthening of 
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the Society through:

•	 Continued training of staff, 
volunteers and society members;

•	 Continued marketing of our 
products and services;

•	 Maintaining and promoting 
member loyalty;  

•	 Developing new methods geared 
towards reducing delinquency 
in keeping with regulations & 
policies and maintaining our social 
responsibilities enshrined in our 
values.

CONCLUSION 
The Supervisory Committee’s role is 
significant and pertinent to the effective 
functioning of the Society; hence, it 
needs to be dedicated and committed. 
As such, the Committee performed 
its duties in a diligent, thorough and 
expeditious manner in the period under 

review. Despite the challenging nature 
of the task on occasions, the Committee 
remained enthusiastic about executing 
the various responsibilities. 

The Committee wishes to especially 
thank all the volunteer members of 
the Board of Directors and Credit 
Committee, Management, Staff and 
others who assisted in the conduct of 
its duties during the period. We look 
forward to improving our working 
relationship, as together we endeavour 
to strengthen the NCCU and thereby 
ensure that our Credit Union becomes 
the leading financial institution on the 
island that provides services to enhance 
the quality of life for all. 

________________________
Linda Gonzalez-Peltier John
Chairperson
For and on behalf of the Supervisory Committee
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National Co-operative Credit Union Limited

Credit Committee Report
For the period November 2010 to December 2010

The Credit Committee of the National 
Co-operative Credit Union Limited is 
pleased to present the Credit Committee 
Report of the newly formed Cooperative 
for the period November to December 
2010.

The Committee comprised thirteen (13) 
members; seven (7) from Roseau, two (2) 

from St. Paul, two (2) from La Salette, 
two (2) from Vieille Case and one (1) 
observer from the St. David’s Branch.

The members serving on the Credit 
Committee and their attendance record 
at meetings convened for the period 
under review is reflected in Table 1 
below:

Table 1  - Credit Committee Members and Attendance Record
Names Meetings Scheduled Meetings Attended 

Nov. – Dec. 2010
Ms. Isabella Prentice - Chairperson 05 04 

Ms. Roanna Joseph   - Secretary 05 03

Ms. Audris Jno Baptiste 04 04

Ms. Shirlyn Pond 05 05

Mr. Nathaniel Isaac 04   06 *

Mrs. Julie Shillingford Durand 05 05

Mr. Clayton Munro 04 03

Mrs. Josephine Dublin 04 04

Dr. Damien Dublin 05 04

Mr. Philbert Joseph 05 03

Mr. Tony Joseph 04 03

Mrs. Maria Pascal 04 03

Ms. Kay Fontaine 04 03

Mr. Darius Polydore 05 04
* Attended additional meetings besides scheduled meetings.
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During the period the Committee 
worked tirelessly to meet the demands 
of the new organisation.  The period was 
indeed challenging, as the Committee 
had to consider loans from all five (5) 
branches using the branch’s individual 
Loan Policy.  This was a rewarding 
experience.  

The Committee during that period 
considered visiting the various branches 
to acquaint itself with the operations, 
culture and difficulties encountered 
within the branches.

Table 2 depicts a summary of major 
loan categories over the two (2) month 
period.

Table 2 - Major Loan Categories

Loan Type(s) Nov. 2010 Dec. 2010

Domestic 215 304

Building Construction & Purchase 22 58

Dwelling House Repairs 13 31

Debt Consolidation 21 63

Debt Consolidation & HP/CC 11 22

The number of loans approved increased 
from four hundred and sixty-three (463) 
to six hundred and seventy-four (674) 
over the period, whilst the dollar value 
was reduced from $4.02m to $3.9m.

The Committee would like to thank 
the staff of the various branches, 
the management of NCCU and the 
volunteers for all the assistance given in 
the performance of its duties during the 
period.

Isabella Prentice
Chairperson
For and on behalf of the Credit Committee
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The Nominations Committee appointed 
by the Board of Directors comprised:
•	 Mr. Arundell Thomas - Chairperson
•	 Mr. Aaron Dalrymple
•	 Mr. Aylmer A. Irish
•	 Mr. Mc Dowill Paul
•	 Ms. Valda Sweeney
•	 Mr. Curth Charles
•	 Mrs. Theresa Royer
•	 Mrs. Juliana D. Cuffy

The Nominations Committee met at the 
Society’s Head Office, Board Room on 
Monday, May 9, 2011.  Absent were Mrs. 
Theresa Royer and Ms. Juliana D. Cuffy.

In addition to considering the volunteers 
currently serving who are eligible for 
nominations, the Committee considered 
nominees submitted by the General 
Membership.

In accordance with Section 53 (4) of 
the Co-operative Society’s Act No. 2 of 
2011, nominees to serve on the Board of 
Directors should not be in violation of the 
standards set.

National Co-operative Credit Union Limited

Nominations Committee Report
For the period ended 31st December 2010

The members recommended are fit and 
proper and have indicated a willingness to 
serve:

Board of Directors

All positions are available.

Mr. Hubert Thomas, Lecturer - Dominica 
State College; Mr. Clayton Munro, 
Accountant (self employed) and Mr. 
Lemuel Lavinier, Engineer – Dominica 
Electricity Services Ltd. and Mr. Maynard 
Joseph, Community Leader were 
nominated by the general membership.

We wish to nominate the following 
persons for continuity:

Mr. Dexter Ducreay
- General Manager, A.C. Shillingford & Co. 
Ltd.

Mrs. Janice Jean-Jacques Thomas 	
- Director, Dominica Social Security

Ms. Rhoda Celaire			 
- Permanent Secretary, Ministry of Health
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Mr. Thomas Dorsett			 
- Internal Auditor, First Domestic Insurance 
Co.

Ms. Bernice Matthew		
- Financial Controller,  P.W. Bellot & Co.

Ms. Celia Delauney			   - 
Attorney-at-Law, Dominica Social Security

Mr. Michael Augustine		
- Teacher, Dominica Grammar School

Mr. Fevrier Valmond		
- Financial Controller, H.H.V. Whitchurch 
& Co. Ltd.

Mr. Bernard Francis			 
- Technical Services Supervisor, Commercial 
Dept. DOMLEC  

Mrs. Vernice Bellony		
- Community Leader

Mr. Cletus Joseph			 
- Extension Officer

Mr. Alganan Degallerie		
- Principal, Pichelin Government School	

Mr. Carlisle Jno  Baptiste		
- Journalist

Supervisory Committee

All positions are available.   

Ms. Charmaine Brumant, Senior Lab 
Technician - Princess Margaret Hospital 
and Ms. Evadney Esprit, Management 
Accountant – Auto Trade Ltd. were 
nominated by the general membership.

We wish to nominate the following 
persons for continuity:

Mrs. Linda Gonzalez-Peltier John 	
-  Application Support Analyst, AID Bank 

Mr. Ian-Michael Anthony		
-  Assistant Comptroller, Inland Revenue 
Division

Ms. Nadette Williams		
-  Administrative Secretary, Convent High 
School

Mr. Mervyn Dailey			 
-  Lecturer, Dominica State College

Ms. Ingrid Roosburg		
-  Financial Accountant, Dominica 
Electricity Services Ltd.

Ms. Esther C. Shillingford		
-  Retired Bank Officer
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Mr. Augustus Etienne		
-  Deputy Director, Dominica Social Security 

Mr. Rupert Lance			 
-  Teacher, St. Mary’s Academy

Mr. David Maximea			 
-  Principal, Wotten Waven Government 
School

Ms. Cynthia Joseph			 
-  Principal, Paix Bouche Government 
School

Mr. Clement Marcellin Jr.		
-  Environmental Health Officer

Mr. Festus Dalrymple		
-  Insurance Consultant

Mr. Jason R. Francis			 
-  Manager, Optimum Security Services

Credit Committee

All positions are available.   

Ms. Priscilla Panthier, Office Clerk 
- Prevost & Roberts Chambers and 
Mrs. Ingrid Prosper Bruno, Supervisor 
– Finance Division, AID Bank were 
nominated by the general membership.

We wish to nominate the following 
persons for continuity:

Ms. Isabella Prentice		
-   Deputy Principal, Convent High School

Mrs. Maria Etienne Pascal		
-   Manager, Lindomart 

Ms. Audris Jno Baptiste		
-   Teacher, Convent High School

Ms. Shirlyn Pond			 
-   Senior Clerk, Dominica Social Security

Mr. Nathaniel Isaac			 
-   National Disaster Co-ordinator

Mrs. Julie Shillingford Durand	
-  Accountant, DOWASCO

Mrs. Josephine Dublin		
-   Principal, Convent High School

Dr. Damien Dublin			 
-   Dentist

Mr. Philbert Joseph			 
-   Teacher, Portsmouth Secondary School

Ms. Roanna Joseph			 
-   Welfare Officer, Government of Dominica
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Ms. Kay Fontaine			 
-   Secretary, David Bruney Chambers

Mr. Clayton Munro			 
-   Accountant (self employed)

Mr. Darius Polydore		
-   Production Supervisor, Colgate Palmolive

…………………………	
Arundell Thomas

…………………………
Aaron Dalrymple

………………………….
Aylmer A. Irish

The Nominations Committee is pleased 
to present this report to you the members 
at the first Annual General Meeting of the 
National Co-operative Credit Union Ltd.

Nominations to all committees can be 
made from the floor in keeping with the 
requirement of the Co-operative Societies 
Act.

………………………….	
Valda Sweeney

…………………………	
Mc Dowill Paul

…………………………  			 
Curth Charles
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Aylmer A. Irish
Chief Executive Officer

Curth Charles
La Salette Branch Manager

McDowill Paul
Roseau Branch Manager

Valda Sweeney
St. Paul Branch Manager

Julianna Cuffy
Administrative Officer,
St. David’s Branch

Theresa Royer
Vieille Case Branch Manager
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